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Thursday, September 15, 2005


‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 1:00 p.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good afternoon, everyone.  Today is the nineteenth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.


This afternoon we will begin the examination of the panel on customer support operations, CIS and contracts operating and maintenance budgets.


Before we begin, I just wanted to let everyone know that we will be sitting next Thursday and next Friday, so please put that in your agendas.


Are there any preliminary matters?


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

MR. THOMPSON:  I have one, Madam Chair.  It deals with the production of the financial statements for ECSI and CWLP.  This was an issue that was raised in the CCC 192, and I believe it was on day 6 in volume I was asking the policy panel for these financial statements and I was referred to Mr. McGill.


Yesterday I did send a letter to the company and asked them to have available, for the purposes of this panel, but not so much Mr. Louth, but when we get into the real numbers crunching, the complete and unredacted financial statements for ECSI and CWLP for 2004 audited, if they have been audited.


And then we asked for complete and unredacted pro forma financials re ECSI and CWLP for 2005 and 2006 in the same format as the financials for 2004.


Then those requests are, in substance, the same requests that were made in CCC 192.  This was discussed in volume 6 of the transcript at page 139, line 6, and at pages 140 and 141.


The other item we asked to have produced for the purposes of the financial aspects of the customer care and CIS panel was the EGDI corporate budget for 2005, which you ordered to produce a couple of weeks ago, I believe that was.


I just want to alert you that neither of those production requests have yet been complied with.  Mr. Cass indicated to me that he's forwarded the first two to CWLP and he hasn't had a response yet.  And Mr. Cass informs me that the corporate budget for 2005 will be produced once the company's figured out Securities Act compliance issues, as I understand it.


I believe parties will require a ruling on production of these financial statements before this panel finishes, but I don't want to take the time today to have you deal with it.  I suggest that at some point, after Mr. Louth is finished, perhaps we could just return and deal with it or schedule a time for dealing with it.


So this is, I guess, notice of the request and a request that the Board, at some point, schedule this matter for further submissions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Unless between now and when Mr. Louth is finished, EGDI has been able to provide the documents.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.  That contingency is always open.  We can keep our fingers crossed.  I have not spoken to counsel for CWLP and would be pleased to do that, if that could solve this problem.


MS. NOWINA:  Without getting into the heart of the matter, Mr. Cass, do you have any comments now?


MR. CASS:  I will just make a couple of comments, Madam Chair.  I agree that it would be best to deal with this later, and, if we can, to get through Mr. Louth's testimony while he is here.


Mr. Thompson did, indeed, raise with the ‑‑ or at the time the policy panel was testifying the request that he is now making in respect of information from, I think it is both CWLP and ECSI.  Just for the record and as a heads up to Mr. Thompson, the interrogatory that he has referred to, CCC No. 192, was in fact discussed on Motions Day, and it was certainly our understanding, from what was said on Motions Day, that the answer that had been provided was sufficient.


Again, I won't get into argument now.  That is at page 10, lines 12 to 21 of the Motions Day transcript.  In any event, I agree with Mr. Thompson that CWLP's lawyer needs to be here for the argument of this point and, accordingly, it would be appropriate to try to find some time after Mr. Louth's testimony has concluded.


On the corporate budget, Madam Chair, that is a completely separate issue, I believe, as far as I am aware.  Mr. Thompson is quite right, the company is fully aware of the Board's order to produce it.  The time that has passed since the Board's direction was given has been spent in trying to sort out how to do it in a manner that does not violate any securities laws.  And last I heard ‑‑ I, of course, am not involved, not being a securities law expert, at all, but the last I heard, the conclusion to that issue had not yet been reached.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I hesitate to leap in, but there are two matters respecting this that are relevant to my cross‑examination.  We had agreed to take the lead amongst the intervenors on those very financial statements, on the financial issues, for ECSI and CWLP.  In fact, I spent all day yesterday trying to reconstruct financial statements, because we didn't have them.  Too bad.  


And I have two or two-and-a-half hours of cross‑examination precisely on trying to construct financial statements out of the limited information that has been filed, which is supposed to go tomorrow after we're finished with Mr. Louth.


Therefore, it seems to me that we have a scheduling issue if these things are actually going to be produced, because (a), I would be wasting your time trying to sort this out if we're getting the things filed, and (b), I won't have a cross prepared for new documents that we get tomorrow.


I know a number of my friends are relying on our cross‑examination on the financial issues to follow up with the issues that they want to deal with.  That's the first thing.


The second ‑‑ so that's the scheduling issue.  The second thing is I have given the company notice at the beginning of this week that we will be asking detailed questions about the ECSI and CWLP financial statements, and I have asked them to bring forward a witness who has the ability to answer questions about those pieces of evidence, which is their evidence.  And I see on the panel there are no ECSI or CWLP people or EI people on the panel, that I know of.  I have been advised by the company that they are not going to lead a witness who has that specific knowledge.


Now, it may be that Mr. McGill will be able to answer the questions, but I suspect that that is not the case and I am giving the Board, I guess, and my friend notice that, we feel, they have an obligation to lead a witness who has knowledge of written evidence that they are filing, and we're asking them to do so.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, just by way of giving my friend, Mr. Cass, a heads up back, on Motions Day my recollection is that we had not seen any of the confidential components of the answer to CCC 192.


My records indicate that those were never sent to us and I only saw them after.  I think they came to us on July the 7th, long after Motions Day.  If one reads the answer and answers that the company gave to other IGUA interrogatories, one could reasonably conclude we were going to get those financial documents.


So I just ‑‑ in answer to my friend has referred to, Motions Day was in late June, as I recall it.


MS. NOWINA:  Well, before Mr. Cass gives a heads up to your counter heads up, why don't we proceed with this panel and we will deal with that matter, as you have suggested?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, fine.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I have one very small preliminary matter, and then a couple of comments about the panel, if I may.


My preliminary matter I hope is much less contentious than anything else the Board has heard so far this afternoon.


The answer to Undertaking J4.1 has been filed and it has been filed in confidence.  This, the Board may recall, was a request for the Accenture-EnVision fee schedule.

     My point is a very simple one, that in accordance with the designation that the Board has been using to identify confidential exhibits and make sure that there is never any confusion that in some way perhaps the letter X could be added to the designation of Exhibit J4.1, because it is a confidential filing.
     MS. NOWINA:  Yes. 
     MR. BATTISTA:  That will be revised to reflect the confidentiality by way of the X.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you.  With respect to the panel, Madam Chair, I think everyone appreciates this, but for the record, I wanted to indicate that there are difficulties with Mr. Louth's availability on the same days that happen to be available for hearing in this case.
     The company has suggested that parties, if they can, deal with their questions that involve Mr. Louth first.  He is available today and tomorrow, and we would hope that we would be able to proceed in that fashion.  And with the Board's indulgence, if Mr. Louth's examination is finished over today and tomorrow, perhaps he might be excused at that time.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine, Mr. Cass.
     MR. CASS:  Then the second point is simply to mention to the Board and to all parties, that this panel is addressing the customer care issues generally, but the CIS contract issue will have a separate panel.  Mr. McGill will also be a witness on that issue, but it's not -- at least the company's expectation, that it would be within the scope of this panel.  There will be another panel to deal with the CIS contract.
     So having said that, Madam Chair, I wonder if the witnesses could be sworn.  I'm sorry.
     MR. WARREN:  I apologize, Madam Chair.

MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Warren.
     MR. WARREN:  I just wanted to ask through you, Mr. Cass, if we could understand what the drill is to be?  This is customer care, for reasons he indicated Mr. Louth is to go first, then the balance of the panel is on customer care issues alone and then after that we're going to get a separate panel on CIS; is that correct?
     MR. CASS:  That's correct.
     MR. WARREN:  Thank you very much.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.
     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I will just introduce the witnesses to be sworn.  The witnesses are Mr. Stephen McGill, Ms. Tanyia Ferguson, and Mr. Doug Louth, if they could please go forward to be sworn.
     MR. McGILL:  I was previously sworn.
     ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 16:  


DOUG LOUTH; Sworn


TANYIA FERGUSON; Sworn

     STEPHEN McGILL; Previously Sworn
     EXAMINATION BY MR. CASS:
MR. CASS:  Mr. McGill, if I could start with you, please, just to deal with a couple of preliminary questions.
     Could you confirm, please, that the company's evidence on the customer care issues, including answers to interrogatories, were prepared by you or under your direction or control?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes, they were.
     MR. CASS:  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge or belief?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes, it is.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you.  If I might turn to you, Ms. Ferguson.  You are, I believe, the manager of special projects, customer support for Enbridge Gas Distribution; is that right?
     MS. FERGUSON:  Yes I am.
     MR. CASS:  Can you please explain for the Board your role in respect of the company's evidence on customer care.
     MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.  I assisted Mr. McGill in the preparation of customer care evidence and the responses to interrogatories in this year's rate case.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you.  And then turning to you, Mr. Louth, I believe that you have provided a professional profile summarizing your experience and background at exhibit A1, tab 8, schedule 8; is that correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. CASS:  And in your capacity described in that profile, I understand that you've been working with utility companies for something over 40 years; is that correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's also correct.
     MR. CASS:  You were a partner of Deloitte & Touche for in the order of 14 years, until around late 1996; is that correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. CASS:  For the last 12 years of that period with Deloitte & Touche, you were responsible for that firm's utilities consulting practice in western Canada; is that correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  That is correct.
     MR. CASS:  And since that time you have carried on work with utility clients through Douglas Louth Associates Inc.; is that correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. CASS:  And in the course of your years of working with utilities, you have been involved in evaluating utility costs for customer care and other services; is that correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. CASS:  Can you give us a sense of how many projects you've been involved in over the course of your career that involve evaluating utility costs for customer care and other services?
     MR. LOUTH:  Absolutely.  I -- probably in excess of fifty and of course the evaluation was at a different level, some being detailed and some less detailed but there are more than fifty clients in total.
     MR. CASS:  Are there some prominent examples that come to mind that you could tell us about where you've had previous experience working in this area?
     MR. LOUTH:  Well, I was very materially engaged in the deal between B.C. Hydro and Accenture.  I have also done significant work for a couple of Alberta utilities, and I was involved in the original negotiation of the contract with Accenture for what was then B.C. Gas, which of course is now Terasen.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you.  I believe that you previously testified on utility costs before this Board in the Enbridge Gas Distribution rate case for fiscal 2003; is that correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  I did, indeed, testify.
     MR. CASS:  And you have also provided evidence on utility costs, particularly customer care costs in proceedings of the B.C. Utilities Commission and the EUB; is that correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. CASS:  I understand that in the course of your work, you have also performed assignments for the B.C. Utilities Commission itself; is that correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I won't spend more time on Mr. Louth's qualifications, unless there is any issue.  He has, as he has indicated, did testify as an expert before this board in the Enbridge fiscal 2003 rate case.  I would, therefore, unless there is some issue, ask the Board to accept Mr. Louth as an expert in evaluation of utility costs for customer care and other services.
     MS. NOWINA:  Do any of the intervenors have any comments on accepting Mr. Louth as an expert witness?  No.  We will accept that, Mr. Cass.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     Mr. Louth, could I then ask you to summarize the work that you did for Enbridge Gas Distribution in this case on the subject of customer care costs.
     MR. LOUTH:  Indeed.  I think I have to go back a little further in time than Enbridge.  In 2004/2005, my firm carried out a benchmarking study for Direct Energy in Alberta.  And Direct Energy at that point were facing a directive from the EUB to carry out such a benchmark to establish the validity of their costs versus their contract with ATCO.
     So we produced, in 2004, we produced a benchmark report that has subsequently been presented to the EUB in Alberta.  
     What that benchmark report did was basically to establish comparative costs for 11 utilities operating in Canada, each of those utilities being of significant size.  We excluded from any benchmark study utilities with -- typically municipal and smaller utilities.
     So the work that we did for Enbridge was subsequent to the presentation of that benchmark.  We were asked by Enbridge to do two things:  To compare their 2003 costs, which had already been presented to the OEB against the benchmark results, which were based upon 2003 financial reporting from the respondent utilities in the benchmark.  That was done to establish a baseline of comparison to which we could subsequently compare Enbridge's estimates of 2006 costs.

The work for Enbridge -- the first factor in the work for Enbridge was to try to calculate a reasonable inflation factor that could be used to bring the benchmark results, which I repeat were based on 2003 numbers, up to a level where there was a valid comparison for projected 2006 costs.


We did -- we actually did enough work to calculate such a factor, which turned out to be 3.22 percent increase, and then we took Enbridge's 2006 estimates and compared them to the benchmark results, times 3.22 percent, so that we got a reasonably valid comparison of 2006 numbers.


We also, at that point, looked at Enbridge's projections and tried to answer the question of fair market value around those projections.  We did so by basically comparing ‑‑ by comparing the results that we came up with.


What emerged from that study was that if we take the overall cost per customer, Enbridge's estimates for cost per customer in 2006 were $59.03 and the adjusted benchmark number was $54.71.


So Enbridge, in fact, was 7.9 percent above the benchmark figure at that point on an overall cost-per-customer basis.  There are more details of the numbers in other service areas in the evidence that I believe has already been presented to you.


The interesting part of that is when one compared Enbridge's 2006 costs with their 2003 costs, there was some improvement, in terms of Enbridge's positioning within the range of reasonableness.


For instance, in 2003, Enbridge's overall costs were 8.34 percent above the benchmark, and, as I previously said, they emerged as 7.9 percent above the benchmark when 2003 costs were used.


We then looked at a range of what we considered to be fair market value costs and we previously established, from work that we'd done for a great number of other utilities, that if customer care costs on an overall basis fell within about 10 percent of the benchmark number, then that cost could generally be said to be reasonable so long as there were mitigating circumstances which would justify any significant increase.


In Enbridge's case, there were some mitigating factors to justify an increase.  We said that in our report, and we, therefore, concluded that 7.9 percent above the benchmark level did, indeed, represent fair market value in terms of overall customer cost.


Now, having said that, of course 7.9 percent over the benchmark is in the top end of the range of reasonableness.  So I think that is basically a summary of what we came up with, in terms of the Enbridge comparison.


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Louth.  Now, I believe that Mr. Stevens has provided evidence that comments on the work that you did for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  If I have it correctly, I think the exhibit number is Exhibit L, tab 5, schedule 1.


I wonder if you could turn that up, Mr. Louth, and go to page 26 of 54, please?


MR. LOUTH:  Page 26?


MR. CASS:  Yes.  Perhaps just give others a minute to find it, and then I will ask you a couple of questions.


MS. NOWINA:  What page was it, Mr. Cass?


MR. CASS:  Twenty-six of 54, Madam Chair.  Thank you.


Mr. Louth, looking at pages 26 over to the top of 27, there is a series of bullet points where Mr. Stevens' comments on your benchmark study.


Without taking them one by one, can you provide the Board, please, with your response to Mr. Stevens' commentary in those bullet points, please?


MR. LOUTH:  I would be happy to do that.  Basically, I think if one understands what Mr. Stevens is proposing, then the approach that he proposes is, in fact, an approach that would, indeed, come up with a reasonable benchmark number.  So there is no doubt in my mind that we are looking here at one approach versus another approach that potentially could come up with the same number.


However, having said that, I think it is important to state that the benchmark that we did was done for a client of our company called Direct Energy.  It was not done for Enbridge; it was done for Direct Energy.  And Direct Energy's terms of reference to us were to look for the most reasonable project, in terms of consulting cost and in terms of time, and to take an approach that would achieve those ends.


Frankly, what Mr. Stevens is proposing on the basis of cost, I would submit, would be significantly more expensive than would be the study that we did for Direct Energy.


Direct Energy had also had the benefit of a ruling from the EUB that the most acceptable measurement of overall market value for Direct Energy would be measurement on the basis of overall costs of customer care, and Mr. Stevens' approach is not one that would lead to a very expeditious calculation of that cost.


He is suggesting, in fact, that one should go -- drill right down to the actual unit cost at a very, very detailed level, and then build up to the ultimate cost of customer care.  So, again, that sort of microcosmic data approach would be very expensive and very, very time consuming.


The other thing that Mr. Stevens is suggesting is that instead of actually interacting with various utilities in the same manner that we did - and we send out a questionnaire, we follow it up with calls - Mr. Stevens is suggesting that one takes the customer service agreements for a number of targeted utilities and basically does the benchmark based on a very detailed examination of those customer service agreements.


Now, again, there is nothing wrong with that approach, but it is very time consuming.  And conceivably, also, any consulting firms such as ours would have a great degree of difficulty in convincing other utilities to give us their customer services agreement to examine.  They're very confidential documents, and we consider it would have been very, very difficult to do any sort of benchmarking based on customer service agreements.


All of these things were discussed with Direct Energy when we were planning the Direct Energy approach to the benchmarking exercise that we carried out.  And we rejected ‑‑ we rejected what amounts to Mr. Stevens' approach on the basis that it would be so much more expensive and, frankly, was outside any budgetary constraints that Direct Energy was imposing on us.


But I would, again, say that in no way do I think Mr. Stevens' approach is 100 percent invalid.  I do not believe that.  I think you probably would come up with similar results from his proposal, but you would probably come up with them about a year later, and you would probably come up with a much higher consulting bill than we were able to charge Direct Energy.


I think it is also fair to state that Direct Energy went out to competitive bid to select a firm to do the benchmark, and we believe that we won it on the basis of our approach.  So our approach must have been exactly what Direct Energy was looking at in their circumstances.


MR. CASS:  All right.  Mr. Louth, if I could just get you to comment on one other aspect of the testimony of Mr. Stevens that you're looking at.


A little further down on page 27, there is a reference to comprehensive benchmarks available from companies called Gartner Inc. and Compass Management Consulting Limited. Could you just please comment on what Mr. Stevens says about those benchmarks.
     MR. LOUTH:  Well, the implication here is that there are off-the-shelf benchmarks available.  To be absolutely fair, I have never seen them.  And that doesn't mean we haven't looked for them.  We have looked for them.
     Our sort of understanding of Gartner and Compass -- and we have worked with Gartner on some assignments in my days at Deloitte's -- my understanding of those two companies is that they do, in fact, produce perfectly valid benchmarks, but more on the process than on cost.
     In other words, if I am looking at the efficiency of a data centre or the efficiency of a call centre, then Gartner and Compass both have very good data which will allow you to benchmark the efficiency and effectiveness of those operations.
     I have not seen any data, from either company, on the basis of costs of customer care or anything else, except in the context of efficiency.  So I am a little bit puzzled in terms of any off-the-shelf approach that might be available.
     MR. CASS:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Louth.  Just one final area for you, Mr. Louth, in examination in-chief.
     Mr. Thompson has alerted us to the fact that he will be referring to some cases from the EUB during your 

cross-examination.  I realize that nobody has been provided – well, the company has these decisions, they have not been passed around the room yet.
     Rather than getting into any discussion of the decision, decisions I was just wondering if you could set the context for what your involvement has been in these sorts of issues in the cases before the EUB.
     MR. LOUTH:  Well, in terms of Direct Energy, of course, it was a direct comparison of Direct Energy's costs against the benchmark.  And that was the purpose of the benchmark.  So the comparison was a second stage of that work.
     In terms of ENMAX, we were asked by ENMAX to do a very limited study in terms of, again, comparison of their costs against the benchmark.  The result of that work was a letter of opinion.  It was not a formal report.  Those are the projects we have under taken in Alberta.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Mr. Louth.  

Back to you, Mr. McGill, with one final question.  Could you please explain how the company has met the expectations stated by the Board in its fiscal 2003 rate case decision on customer care issues.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  First, in the 2003 decision, the Board indicated that it found that the benchmarking information that the company had provided was useful in assessing the customer care costs of the company, and we have updated that information and provided further information with respect to benchmarking and comparing our costs to others.
     Second, the Board directed the company to produce segmented financial information related to the company's service providers that provide us with these services.  This information was provided as part of Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 3 and as part of the confidential response to CCC interrogatory number 192, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 192.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair, that's the examination in-chief of the panel.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.  

Can other parties give me an indication of who would like to cross this –- cross-examine this panel, how long you might take, and if you have decided on an order.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I am to lead off with this panel and my expectation is between two and two and a half hours.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.
     MR. WARREN:  I don't anticipate I will have any questions for Mr. Louth.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.
     MR. DeVELLIS: Good afternoon, Madam Chair.  I anticipate approximately 45 minutes to an hour.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I will have no questions of Mr. Louth.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.
     MR. DINGWALL:  Madam Chair, I'm estimating one hour.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Anyone else?  

Mr. Thompson.
     CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Just a couple of points if I might, Mr. Louth, with respect to your evidence in-chief, and in particular with respect to Mr. Stevens' work.
     Mr. Stevens, as I understand it, along with you, has been a witness that has testified in these recent Alberta proceedings that you referenced.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.  I think I should make it clear that in terms of the proceedings regarding Direct Energy, to my knowledge, there was no oral hearing.
     The case went directly to argument and so Mr. Stevens and I obviously helped our respective clients to prepare argument, but there was no oral hearing, as far as I am aware.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Was there a written hearing and written evidence?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, there was.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the study that you filed in this proceeding, which you've called the Direct Energy study, that's the benchmark study.  I think it is found as Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 5, dated September 20, 2004.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's right.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And am I correct that in the Direct Energy proceeding, it wasn't that particular study on which the EUB ruled, but a subsequent opinion letter that you provided, which excluded meter reading from the benchmark study that's attached at A6, tab 2, schedule 5.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, that's correct.  We did that obviously because Direct Energy does not incur any meter reading costs.  So we excluded meter reading from the database.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And that exclusion of meter reading, in effect, resulted in a different report.
     MR. LOUTH:  Well, a different result in terms of a benchmark, yes.  We just simply took the meter reading data out of the database.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And my understanding is that that approach, i.e., a separate, if you will, opinion letter dealing with the components of customer care, other than meter reading, was required because you couldn't just simply deduct the meter reading component of your benchmark study shown as exhibit -- attached to the exhibit I mentioned.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, that's correct.  It would have been statistically not acceptable to do that.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And so the Board, in effect, made its rulings with respect to the study that's not before this particular tribunal, the study on which the Board made its rulings is a study excluding meter readings?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  Well, I can't comment on what documents the Board used to produce a ruling.  They had both documents.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, I am referring to what my understanding is from reading the decision.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, I appreciate that.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that the way you read it as well?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's the way I read it.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Okay.  And the other point with respect to the Board's ruling in the Direct Energy case, the Board did make some recommendations with respect to normalization and further processes with respect to benchmarking.  Will you agree?
     MR. LOUTH:  I would agree, yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And some of those recommendations were made by Mr. Stevens?
     MR. LOUTH:  Correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And one of the recommendations was that on a go-forward basis, further studies in Alberta should be conducted in a collaborative process.  Do you recall that?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, he made that recommendation.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And did the Board not adopt it?
     MR. LOUTH:  I believe they did.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And in terms of what you have done in this case, will you agree with me it is not the product of a collaborative process with intervenors and Board Staff?
     MR. LOUTH:  I'm sorry, what was the question?

MR. THOMPSON:  Is what you have done for the purposes of the Enbridge case, the result of a collaborative process?
     MR. LOUTH:  I think it is, in terms of the fact that we got the collaboration, if you like, of 11 utilities across Canada.
     Mr. Stevens, actually, as I understand it, was suggesting that the Alberta utilities should collaborate to come up with a specific Alberta-oriented benchmark.  So I believe that we did, indeed, achieve collaboration.  In fact all of the 11 utilities that finished up as the essence of our benchmark were not only collaborated, but we spoke to each one of them for an average of four hours.  So we did a lot more face‑to‑face contact with those utilities than Mr. Stevens is suggesting.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, my ‑‑ on the assumption that collaboration means collaboration with the other interested parties in proceedings before the Board, will you agree with me that what you have done for this case was not the product of a collaborative process?  Intervenors weren't involved?


MR. LOUTH:  There were certainly no intervenors involved.


MR. THOMPSON:  And your client was Enbridge ‑‑ well, was your client Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. LOUTH:  EGD, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Finally, with respect to some of the points you made in‑chief, I think you read Mr. Stevens' evidence to be suggesting ‑‑ this was at page 27 of Exhibit L, tab 5, schedule 1, where he referred to Gartner Inc. and Compass Management Consulting Limited.  


You seem to read into there that he was implying they did benchmark studies that were available off the shelf.  Did I understand you correctly?


MR. LOUTH:  Well, that was what I read into the words.  I mean, Mr. Stevens did not say that, but what he was suggesting was that there was a body of evidence, a body of benchmarks that already pre-existed.


And my comment was that we were not aware of any such evidence.  If I used the word "off the shelf", then that was an anecdotal comment by me.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  To the extent all he's saying is, Gartner Inc. and Compass Management Consulting Limited are two entities that can do the type of comprehensive benchmark study that he recommends, do you agree that they are two companies with that capability?


MR. LOUTH:  They are certainly leaders in their field, in terms of this sort of work.  But as I said earlier, their expertise is generally reckoned to be more in the process end than it is in the cost end.


MR. McGILL:  Excuse me, there is one point I would like to clarify about the Alberta decision.  I appreciate no one has seen it yet, but with respect to a collaborative approach on benchmarking, the way that decision ends up - and it is on page 39 of the document - is that the Board recommended or suggested to jurors that it look into following up on one of four options with respect to future benchmarking for its 2005 and 2006 year.


And in two of those options, there is reference to some kind of collaborative approach, but the Board did not direct or order jurors to undertake such an exercise.


MS. NOWINA:  Is someone going to file that decision as an exhibit, since everyone seems to want to refer to it?


MR. THOMPSON:  I have it.  Can you make copies available?  I have a copy, Madam Chair.  I sent this to the company yesterday, but perhaps at the break we could undertake to make copies and file it for you.  Would that be satisfactory?


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let me move on.  And I appreciate the focus of the day is to deal with Mr. Louth, but in order for me to do that, I have to deal with your evidence, Mr. Louth, in the context of the claim that's being made here for customer care.


So I just want to, through Mr. McGill, try and get some clarity with respect to the nature of EGD's customer care claims in this particular case, and then find out whether Mr. Louth's evidence relates to the claims or doesn't relate to the claims.  So if you will bear with me just to accept the table for this examination.


And perhaps the best place to start with this is in Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 2, table 1, which you find at page 4.  And if you wouldn't mind, I would ask you to just have at hand Exhibits K6.4 and K6.6.  One is the O&M budget work sheet.  The first one is dealing with the O&M budget work sheet, and then the second is the breakdown of customer care exhibit that was filed on day 6.


Do you have those, Mr. McGill?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  So just starting with A6, tab 2, schedule 2, the total customer care claim was $122.2 million for 2006?


MR. McGILL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that correct?  Then during the policy panel consideration, I think Mr. Player indicated that the CIS fee, at line 6, should be reduced to, I believe it is ‑‑ well, you tell me what it is to be reduced to.


MR. McGILL:  It is to be reduced by $2.8 million down to 18.1 million, and that evidence was introduced in April when I filed the update to the CIS evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that the subtotal at line 7 becomes what now?  Do you happen to have that at hand?  106.5 minus -‑


MR. McGILL:  I believe that would be 103.7.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


MR. McGILL:  Subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  And within lines 1 to 5, EGD ‑‑ am I correct that EGD requires those ‑‑ or acquires the customer care services in lines 1 to 5 from CWLP under the contract that expires December 31, 2006?


MR. McGILL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that's one customer care contract.


MR. McGILL:  Yes, it's -- the name of the document is the client services agreement.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then at line 6, the CIS fee, am I correct that EGD acquires the customer care CIS services under a separate contract?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.  That was originally a contract between Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Commercial Services Incorporated, and that agreement was assigned by Enbridge Commercial Services to Customer Works effective from January 1st, 2002.


MR. THOMPSON:  And am I correct that that contract expires at the end of this month?


MR. McGILL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Could you just, for the record ‑‑ I wanted to find out whether Mr. Louth's evidence has anything to do with the CIS contract claim, but for the record, could you just briefly describe what is the CIS contract claim in this case?  What's the company asking for?


MR. McGILL:  For 2006, we're asking to recover $18.1 million in rates with respect to our CIS service fees.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, in the evidence, there is reference to a request for approval of a proposed CIS contract for 12 years.  Is that still being sought?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, it is.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the basis for seeking approval is, what?


MR. McGILL:  Is because the Affiliate Relationships Code for gas utilities requires prior approval of the Board for any affiliate contract with a term of greater than five years.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that for the purposes of that request for relief, EGD is ‑‑ accepts I guess, presumes, that CWLP is an affiliate?


MR. McGILL:  We've had this question before.  Our view is that technically CWLP is not an affiliate, but we acknowledge that for the purposes of establishing rates, CWLP is viewed as one in this process.


MR. THOMPSON:  So does it follow that for the purposes of this case, CWLP should be treated as if it were an affiliate?


MR. McGILL:  I don't know that I would agree with that quite the way you have put it.  I think, as I indicated, CWLP is a related entity.  My understanding, from a technical standpoint is, it is not an affiliate.  So I don't really want to concede the point that it is, or may be.
     But for the purposes of examining our costs, the Board has indicated in the -- I'm struggling to think of the title of the document -- but it was a document that accompanied one of the later drafts of the current version of the Affiliate Code, where the Board indicated it would be interested in looking into the costs and the transactions with companies that are economically-related to the utility.  
     So from that standpoint, yes, I think, the Board would be interested in looking at those costs.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will leave for argument whether that is a “yes” answer, a “no” answer or a “maybe” answer.
     But in terms of the CIS piece of customer care, as you are aware, our client says no to a contract with CWLP.  It says no to a 12-year deal.  And it's in effect seeking a direction that you tender that contract.  That's my paraphrase of the IGUA position.
     Would you take that subject to check?
     MR. McGILL:  The check that that is IGUA's position?  


     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Set out in its evidence.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And my question is, is Mr. Louth's evidence being relied on the company with respect to the issue of whether the contract should or should not be tendered?
     MR. McGILL:  No.
     MR. THOMPSON:  But Mr. Louth has some views on that issue, I think.  If we look at the response to IGUA 61, that's Exhibit I, tab 11, question 61.
     This is in the supplemental response.  This interrogatory relates to the work that the company has asked Mr. Louth to do in respect to the expiry of the CWLP contract; is that fair, Mr. McGill?
     MR. McGILL:  The client services agreement, yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Sorry.  You're correct.  The one covering everything other than --
     MR. McGILL:  -- other than CIS, yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And in connection with -- how would you describe this assignment, Mr. Louth?  Is it a benchmarking type of study or is it something else?
     MR. LOUTH:  In terms of the potential for other suppliers to provide services in replacement of CWLP, no, that is not a benchmarking study.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, what is it, a pricing survey or what do you call it?
     MR. LOUTH:  What we were asked to do by EGD at that point was to look at the marketplace to see if there were other potential suppliers that could provide equivalent services to EGD.
     But in terms of costs, we were only -- we were in no position to get fixed costs from people who obviously were not bidding on a RFP basis.  So we were only looking at their services and we were only trying to achieve some sort of guidelines in terms of cost.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Is it fair to say that -- I'm looking at, for example, page 11 of this presentation

-- that EGD and ELAI initially identified 25 potential suppliers for these services?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, that's true.  But of course, this is the initial web search, information search.  Yes, there are 25 people out there who, on the surface, can provide those sort of services.  The people look, of course, cuts that number down considerably.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, we're not sure we have the right reference.
     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry.  Exhibit I, tab 11, schedule 61, attachment 1.
     MR. McGILL:  Just to help, it is -- it was in the confidential -– 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Confidential.  Sorry.  You have to go to your cupboard for that.
     MS. NOWINA:  No, we got it out of the cupboard.  We just have to go to a different binder.  There it is.  Sorry about that.  Maybe you could take us to the page you were referring to.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Are we all -- do we have the paper now?
     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, we do.  What page was it, Mr. Thompson, or none in particular?
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was referring to page 11 initially.  But just to back up, Mr. Louth, at page 3 you describe the background to this work.
     MR. LOUTH:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you see that?  And you indicate that, about the second bullet point, that CWLP has engaged ABSU to deliver such services to EGD.  Do you see that?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, I see it.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Does that mean that -- well, what does that mean?
     MR. LOUTH:  As I understand it, CWLP is the primary contractor to EGD and it, in turn, has engaged ABSU to deliver those services.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Beyond December 31, 2006?
     MR. LOUTH:  No.
     MR. THOMPSON:  That's not --
     MR. LOUTH:  No.
     MR. THOMPSON:  That's talking presently?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's talking presently, yes, indeed.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Then in terms of reference, we see those on page 4, which you mentioned.  You were to jointly develop with EGD a list of potential suppliers.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's right.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And your scope of the work is described following and the nature of the work that you were doing.  And we see at page 11 that you identified initially 25 potential suppliers.
     MR. LOUTH:  Mm-hmm, that's correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  You referred to appendix B.
     Would these potential suppliers also be able to provide the CIS services?
     MR. LOUTH:  Not necessarily.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Or do you know?
     MR. LOUTH:  Basically, in terms of outsourcing, there are probably two separate lists, one of CIS suppliers and one of process suppliers.  Now, there may be some coincidence, but not in the case of all 25 suppliers.  I doubt that very much indeed.
     MR. THOMPSON:  We then go to page 12.  And we see in the second bullet point EGD contacted ABSU and you contacted the others.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Is there some particular reason for that, that you are aware of?
     MR. LOUTH:  From my own point of view, that was what I was instructed to do.  So obviously we do what our client wishes.
     I think Mr. McGill, perhaps, can comment on the rationale for that decision.
     MR. McGILL:  The rationale was that ABSU declined to participate in the RFI process so we approached them directly in an attempt to get them to participate.  They declined to do that.  So it ended up that we undertook to evaluate ABSU, in terms of our experience, working with them for the last two years prior to this, with respect to the services they provide from us, to us rather.
     We believe we were in a good position to evaluate them versus the other respondents to the RFI.  So that's the reason why we approached ABSU, rather than having them approached by Mr. Louth.
     MR. THOMPSON:  At page 13, we identify the eight organizations to whom the RFI was issued.  Would all of these entities be able to provide the CIS services, Mr. Louth, in your view?
     MR. LOUTH:  Some of them could provide more than one, for instance, IBM is quite capable of supporting more than one CIS.
     Provide, however, is a different word.  I mean, all of -- probably all of these suppliers could support SAP, for instance as a CIS.  And again, it is very difficult to make a direct relationship between suppliers of services and provider -- and suppliers of CIS's.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, let's move on.  I didn't want to spend too much time on this.

At page 14, once again we see you are liaising with potential suppliers, except ABSU, and EGD liaises with ABSU, and the reason for that is as you've explained, is it, Mr. McGill?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then at page 18, Mr. Louth, you tell us that you understood ABSU declined to submit a formal response.  Is that what EGD told you?


MR. LOUTH:  That's what Mr. McGill stated a few moments ago, as well.


MR. THOMPSON:  But he told you that?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And at the end of the day, if we go to page 28 and following, you have some conclusions from evaluations.  You have some conclusions from ABSU, which I assume were based on what Enbridge told you; is that right?


MR. LOUTH:  No.  You have to remember that I have done other projects for Enbridge around the ABSU contract, and a comment ‑‑ the comment that we made there, that ABSU has demonstrated service capabilities, is based not on what Mr. McGill told me, but our observation of what ABSU was providing.


MR. McGILL:  Well, another point, as well, with respect to the process we undertook, if you're to take a look at the non‑confidential portion of the reply to IGUA 61, you will find there a copy of the evaluation template that we employed to evaluate the responses we got back from the service providers.


And we used exactly the same template to evaluate ABSU, based on our experience in dealing with them.  So all three of them were submitted to the same test.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, moving on, Mr. Louth, at page 32 in your conclusions overall, you say that -- in the first bullet point, that DLA believes EGD should consider tendering its customer care services before the ABSU arrangements expire.


Does that mean that, in your view, tendering is the best way to get to fair market value?


MR. LOUTH:  I would believe so.  It's one of the best ways.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So in terms of our client's position with respect to the CIS contract, that it should go to public tender, you would support that?


MR. LOUTH:  Based on the fact that I had nothing to do with the CIS selection, I would support it on principle, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, let me turn to, then, just the segments of the customer care claim, Mr. McGill.


First of all, the CIS dollar amount, the amount being claimed, as you mentioned, is $18.1 million.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  At the moment, we have an existing contract dealing with the provision of CIS services, but that expires September 30, 2005; am I correct?


MR. McGILL:  That's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what happens after that?


MR. McGILL:  I anticipate that prior to that date we will have a new CIS service agreement in place, as described in our evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  So is that a 12‑year deal?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, 12 years and three months, beginning October 1st of 2005.


MR. THOMPSON:  So then are you withdrawing your request for prior approval from the Board?  


MR. McGILL:  The contract, as it is drafted right now, has contingency terms written into it that would deal with the possible non‑acceptance of that agreement by the Board.


So if we run into that situation, then the term of the contract would be less than five years.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, Mr. Louth -- or Mr. McGill, does Mr. Louth's evidence relate in any way to the terms of the proposed CIS contract that you say you're now going to sign before September 30th?


MR. McGILL:  No, it doesn't.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the amounts with respect to the CIS arrangements, is EGD relying on Mr. Louth's evidence with respect to the $18.1 million CIS claim?


MR. McGILL:  No, we're not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that's to be treated as a stand‑alone item?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And Mr. Louth's evidence has nothing to do with it?


MR. McGILL:  Well, Mr. Louth's benchmarking evidence, his survey included the costs associated, or to some extent - and that is discussed in our evidence - associated with information systems to support sort of the customer care business processes.


So when we replied to Mr. Louth's initial survey that he undertook for Direct Energy in 2004, we included the costs we incur for CIS service.  And, as far as I know, those costs were included in the calculation of our average customer care cost per customer and all of our benchmarking comparisons against Mr. Louth's survey.


So there is a connection, but we have not asked Mr. Louth to be involved or comment or assist us with respect to putting the new CIS arrangements in place.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, Mr. Louth, in Alberta, when you were faced with a situation where one piece of the customer care package was not covered, the position, as I understood it, was it was inappropriate to use the overall study in any way to measure that particular piece, or the remainder thereof.  Am I correctly paraphrasing what happened in Alberta?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  You are clearly referring to the fact that we extracted meter-reading costs in the Alberta instance.


We certainly -- in terms of the benchmark, what we would have included in there was the then existing CIS costs.


MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that.  But the company, I understand through Mr. McGill, is not relying on you to support the CIS claims, which I understand Mr. McGill means you are relying on Mr. Louth to support everything but the CIS claims?


MR. McGILL:  No.  We're relying on Mr. Louth to support our overall customer care claim, including the costs of the information systems that support the delivery of those services.  That's why the benchmarking material, the average cost per customer comparisons, all include the costs of the CIS service.


MR. THOMPSON:  So what are we supposed to ‑‑ it seems to me you're changing your answer with respect to the $18.1 million.


What are we supposed to do with Mr. Louth's study, in terms of measuring the reasonableness of your claim for $18.1 million?  Do we take the CIS component of the overall benchmark and use it?  Is that what you're suggesting?


MR. McGILL:  No.  What I'm suggesting is that the work Mr. Louth has done is descriptive of total costs for providing customer care, which includes CIS.


The $18.1 million fee for the CIS services itself is a component of those costs.  The new arrangement that we are in the process of putting in place is bringing those costs down by $2.8 million from what we had originally budgeted for, which was based on simply extending the service fees that were included in the existing contract.


So in terms of the impact on overall cost per customer, the numbers in our presentations all need to be reduced to reflect the impact of that $2.8 million overall reduction in our costs, which improves our position versus Mr. Louth's benchmark and the other benchmarking material we have provided.


So, yes, there is a relationship, but Mr. Louth has not been engaged to assist us in the CIS project.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So does it follow from that, Mr. Louth, you have no idea what has led to the reduction in the CIS claim, reflected in your work, to $18.1 million?


MR. LOUTH:  I have no idea whatsoever. 
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  Now, let me -- with respect to the cost for the CIS service, Mr. McGill, that is something I should deal with when Mr. Louth is finished?
     MR. McGILL:  I would appreciate that, yes.  We will have a different panel here to discuss that.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Okay.  Back to, then, the table 1 and these other two previously-filed exhibits that I mentioned.
     The segments then, Mr. McGill, of the customer care claims, in terms of contracts, are customer care excluding CIS is one tranche, and the CIS contract is a second.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Fair?  Then there are some items, 8 through to 12 on table 1, are they included in the cost per customer analysis or excluded?  Can you help me with that, Mr. Louth?
     MR. McGILL:  Well, I ...     

MS. FERGUSON:  Actually, I can answer that.  The numbers that we provided to Mr. Louth for his benchmark for 2006 were strictly the contract service charges, the 106.5.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, the 106.5 leads to what, costs per customer number?
     MS. FERGUSON:  For 2006, as per Mr. Louth's report, it was 5903.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, Mr. Stevens seems to think the number should be different.  Is there some -- his evidence comes up with a number slightly higher 54-something else.  Can you help me in reconciling the differences?
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. THOMPSON; I will just find the -- Mr. Stevens at page 7 of his exhibit, page 7 of 54, does the calculation about the $106.5 and comes up with the number of 5941.  That is using 1,792,614 customers.  Mr. Louth comes up with a lower number in his study.
     I'm wondering if you could help us reconcile the difference.
     MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.  In our presentation, the number of customers we used was just slightly higher than 1.8 million, 1.812 and that is actually the number of bills.
     I believe the number that Mr. Stevens was using was the number of unlocks.
     MR. McGILL:  That's unlocked meters.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Which is the right number?
     MR. McGILL:  I think it depends on the purpose of the exercise.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the purpose of the exercise is apparently benchmarking on a cost-per-customer basis.
     MR. McGILL:  And our position is that the number -- the average number of bills is more indicative of an average cost-per-customer measure with respect to customer care business activities, as opposed to the number of unlocked meters.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  What is the number of unlocked meters number and the source of that information, just so I can write it down in the margin here beside the 1,792,614.
     [Witness panel confers]
     MR. McGILL:  It appears Mr. Stevens used a customer number of 1,792,614, which he indicates he found at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2 of our evidence.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Where is your number to be found, is what I am trying to find out.
     MS. FERGUSON:  We did use that number in response to VECC interrogatory number 53, at Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 53.
     In that interrogatory, we were asked to provide total O&M for customer support and a cost per customer for each year from 2002 to 2006.  Line 16 in that table shows the number of customers that we have used in each year.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it is VECC 53?  I can find it.
     MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks very much.  Now, just in terms of cost per customer and what's in and what is out.  There are some other costs per customer data at A6, tab 2, schedule 3, page 3 of 13.
     And there, Enbridge is shown at 6693 for the 2006 budget.  Then there is some reference to some other survey information, tech survey, for example.
     Where does the Enbridge 6693 come from?
     MS. FERGUSON:  If I can remember correctly, it was -- it is actually the total customer care costs, not including regulatory adjustments, that being interest on security deposit and the non-utility ratio.
     MR. THOMPSON:  So that would be the 122 -- it would be 123 million, roughly?  I'm looking at A6, Tab 2, schedule 2, table 1.  So that is everything in, and not taking out the non-utility elimination.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  The biggest difference would be bad debt.
     MS. FERGUSON:  That's correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Which is at line 9?
     MR. McGILL:  Correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  So does that mean some benchmarkers include the bad debt and others don't?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  All right, thank you.
     And so with respect to the bad debt piece of this -- well, let's take it from lines 8 to 12 on table 1.  Am I correct, Mr. Louth's evidence has nothing to do with the reasonableness of those components of customer care?
     MS. FERGUSON:  That's correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  You agree with that, Mr. Louth?
     MR. LOUTH:  I agree.
     MR. THOMPSON:  So Mr. Louth, then, is addressing lines 2, 3, 4 and 5?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MS. FERGUSON:  That's correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Have I got that right?
     MS. FERGUSON:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. McGILL:  But again I come back to the point that in the total benchmarking that Mr. Louth undertook, it did include the costs of the information systems, which is line 6, of table 1 of Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 2.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Let's then come to the second component, what I call the CWLP services arrangement.  Customer care excluding CIS.
     Am I correct, Mr. Louth, that you're putting your evidence forward to support the full amount that EGD currently pays under its services contract with CWLP?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Now, what do you know about CWLP, in terms of its staff levels for starters?
     MR. LOUTH:  Where they are currently, I know very little.
     I had a much better appreciation of their staffing levels and their cost structures three years ago.  Not now.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And three years ago, they were -- they had over 1,000 employees, I believe; is that your understanding?
     MR. LOUTH:  Mm-hmm, yes.

MR. THOMPSON:  Now would you take it, subject to check, they've got two employees.


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are you aware of that?


MR. LOUTH:  I know they don't have a large number, because they have sub‑contracted the work to Accenture.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So would it be fair for me to suggest to you that CWLP is not, itself, any longer an operating services provider?


MR. LOUTH:  No.  It's probably a project manager or something of that sort.


MR. THOMPSON:  Something of that sort.  I see.  I would agree with that phraseology.


Does CWLP own any assets, Mr. McGill?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, they do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And what are they?


MR. McGILL:  They own a number of the assets that are employed by ABSU to deliver on CWLP's service commitments, CWLP's clients, including the CIS application that's used to support tariffs and gas, and there were other assets that were ‑‑ belonged to CWLP that CWLP makes available to ABSU to act on their behalf in the delivery of services to their clients.


MR. THOMPSON:  So is it fair to describe them as an asset holding company for the provision of utility services?


MR. McGILL:  To some extent, that's what they are, but I don't know if that would be a good description of them.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, it has ‑‑ sorry.  ECSI has, I think, the leftovers of the CIS assets.  It owns the leftovers of the CIS ‑‑


MR. McGILL:  ECSI owns the current Enbridge CIS system.  That was never transferred out of ECSI, and ECSI makes that asset available to CWLP under a licence agreement whereby ECSI licences the rights to use that software asset to provide services to Enbridge Gas Distribution and Direct Energy.


MR. THOMPSON:  And apart from that asset that ECSI holds, does it have any other assets?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, it does.  It has ‑‑ it owns the current Enbridge financial system that is used by, I believe, all Enbridge companies, and it has cash and receivables.  And it may own some other Enbridge software assets.  I believe it does, but I am not sure of the details of those.


MR. THOMPSON:  And ECSI, I believe, is the entity that holds the Enbridge 70 percent partnership interest in CWLP; is that correct?


MR. McGILL:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  So that the revenue that flows to CWLP and the earnings resulting therefrom, in effect, flows through ECSI to EI?


MR. McGILL:  Seventy percent of CWLP's revenues and 70 percent of CWLP's costs are for the book of ECSI, and, if those result in earnings, then the earnings are for the book of ECSI.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, do you know anything about ECSI, Mr. Louth?


MR. LOUTH:  Only the name.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.  Now, in terms of the customer care services that EGD actually receives, Mr. McGill, am I correct that the entity that provides those is ABSU, using assets held by CWLP?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And there is a contract between ABSU and CWLP?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, there is.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that's been filed in confidence in these proceedings?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, as part of the confidential response to CCC No. 192.


MR. THOMPSON:  And we heard a lot from Mr. Player to the effect that ‑‑ in Mr. Shepherd's cross‑examination, that EGD regards the contractual relationship between CWLP and ABSU as "fair market value".  Do you recall that testimony?


MR. McGILL:  I would have to go back and check the transcript to see exactly what Mr. Player said.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, does it sound sort of familiar?


MR. McGILL:  I believe there were words to that effect, but I believe Mr. Player also qualified his statement.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, do you regard the CWLP/ABSU arrangement, whereby ABSU actually provides the customer care services to EGD, to be a fair market value arrangement?


MR. McGILL:  I don't know whether it is or it isn't, and I don't think it is really fair to label it as such.


The arrangements between CWLP and ABSU are complicated.  They take into account that CWLP is no longer in a position to compete for these lines of business with ABSU, as long as that contract is in effect.  


So there's a number of aspects to that arrangement that I think would go far beyond simply referring to the fees being paid back and forth as something that constitutes fair market value for the services that ABSU is delivering.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it is ‑‑ whatever they are, it's the contract ‑‑ sorry, the contract that actually ‑‑ the contract whereby EGD actually gets the customer care services it needs?


MR. McGILL:  No.  EGD ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  I haven't finished my question.


MR. McGILL:  Excuse me, Mr. Thompson.  I just want to correct you.  EGD gets the services under the contract with CWLP.  EGD does not have a contract with ABSU for any customer care services.  


 MR. THOMPSON:  But unless CWLP has this deal with ABSU, EGD gets nothing.


MR. McGILL:  EGD would either get the services from CWLP, or CWLP would be obligated to put another provider in place to deliver those services on its behalf.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, two people can't provide the services EGD needs; correct?


MR. McGILL:  Physically, no, but contractually, yes.  They do it today.


MR. THOMPSON:  Back to you, Mr. Louth, just generally about ‑‑ well, before I leave you, Mr. McGill, what does CWLP actually pay to ABSU for the services ‑‑ well, under the contract arrangements that exist, there is a confidential document that's been filed.  It's Exhibit X9.1, I think, which was the undertaking in an earlier case.  


Does that give us the amount actually being paid, or something close to it?


MR. McGILL:  Is that the old ‑‑ the J21.1 exhibit from 2003?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  It is filed as X9.1 in this proceeding.


MR. McGILL:  That was the projection of the amounts that would be transferred back and forth between ABSU and CWLP at the time the program agreement was entered into.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Are there any material changes, as far as 2006 is concerned?


MR. McGILL:  As far as 2006 is concerned, I would ‑‑ in terms of CWLP earnings, I would say no.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And there is, again, a segmented document filed in response to CCC 192 showing CWLP revenues and expenses and earnings for 2006.


Do you recall that document?  I don't want to get into these numbers.


MR. McGILL:  Yes, I do recall the document.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is that ‑‑ well, is there anything in that document that is not in this forecast that was filed in the prior case, or anything not in it?


MR. McGILL:  No.  No.  I think the figures that are provided for 2006 in the confidential exhibit that's part of the CCC 192 reply reflect the figures that are included for 2006 in the X1 exhibit.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Again, trying to get a number on the record without breaching any confidences ‑‑

     MR. McGILL:  I don't think you can, if it's a CWLP earnings figure.
     MR. THOMPSON:  No.  It was what CWLP pays ABSU; is that a problem?
     MR. McGILL:  I think we would be going in camera for that.
     MR. THOMPSON:  I will move on.  I won't deal with that now.  I'll wait until we're in private.  Thank you.
     In terms of -- back to you, Mr. Louth -- in terms of the benchmarking generally, would you agree that the purpose of benchmarking, one of its purposes is to provide an indicator of reasonableness?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, indeed.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And in a scenario where you have a fair market value contract in place, I will give you a hypothetical.
     Assume a contractor for services is acquiring services under a fair market value contract for one dollar and your benchmark study indicates that a price of as much as two dollars might be appropriate.
     Would you agree with me the benchmarking study is not intended to increase the amounts recoverable from ratepayers?
     MR. LOUTH:  Not to that extent, no.  I mean we're there talking of 100 percent difference, so ...  hypothetically.
     MR. THOMPSON:  My point is this:  As a matter of principle would you agree benchmarking evidence does not operate to increase the amount recoverable beyond the amount actually payable under a fair market value contract.
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  But you have to remember that benchmarking is not an exact science by any stretch of the imagination, and what may be fair market value for a set of services delivered to one utility is not necessarily fair market value for a comparable set of services delivered to another utility because there may be mitigating circumstances.
     An obvious example is the requirement for unbundled billing that exists in Ontario and Alberta.  That, in my opinion, would certainly mean that fair market value would be achieved if those -- if the costs of those billing services were, indeed, higher than a nation-wide benchmark.
     MR. THOMPSON:  In this particular case, though, CWLP is obtaining the customer care services from ABSU of meter reading, credit collection, call centre and billing under a contract from ABSU.  So it's covering everything that you are evaluating; right?
     MR. LOUTH:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. THOMPSON:  But you didn't look at that contract, did you?
     MR. LOUTH:  No, I did not look at that contract.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And why didn't you?  That's the best evidence, it seems to me, of that benchmark in this particular case.
     MR. LOUTH:  We were looking not at the contractual arrangements between CWLP and ABSU.
     We were looking at the overall cost of customer care being provided to EGD.
     The question of who provided that service at that point was, frankly, irrelevant to comparison against a benchmark.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Irrelevant?
     MR. LOUTH:  It's irrelevant.  If one supplier is providing a service under a subcontracting arrangement, which is lower than is charged to EGD, when you're doing a benchmark comparison, surely what you're concerned about is the cost to EGD.  And how that cost is arrived at is not relevant in terms of a benchmark.  Because the benchmark is looking at overall customer care cost, whatever the source of that -- of those charges.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, it may not be relevant to your benchmarking study.  It is certainly relevant to what, I suggest, to what EGD should be recovering from its ratepayers.
     MR. LOUTH:  That's -- that I would accept.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Now, in terms of the nature of the benchmarking exercises -- this is not the first time you presented the benchmarking analysis before this Board as you indicated in-chief.
     MR. LOUTH:  Correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  You presented in the 2003 case.  Am I correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, that's correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And the panel should probably pull up IGUA's testimony, Exhibit L11.1 at tab 2 where we have the 0133 decision.  I want to direct Mr. Louth's attention to it, as well as the other panel members.
     MR. LOUTH:  I have to find that I'm afraid.
     MR. THOMPSON:  The Board's finding on customer care costs start at paragraph 486 of this decision under tab 2 of the IGUA testimony.  
     Do the witness panel members have that?
     MR. McGILL:  What page in Mr. Stevens' document are you on?
     MR. THOMPSON:  No, no.  I'm in the prefiled evidence IGUA Exhibit L11.1.  It's the excerpts from the Board's reasons for decision in the 0133 case.
     MR. McGILL:  Right.  I think I am almost there.
     MR. THOMPSON:  The Board's findings on customer care costs start at page 487.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Everybody with me now?     

MR. McGILL:  Mm-hmm.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, in that case, Mr. Louth, you presented a benchmarking study; am I correct?
     MR. LOUTH:  It was a limited benchmarking study, yes.  If my memory is correct, we compared EGD to B.C. Gas, as it then was, in detail, and we also compared EGD to other proprietary benchmarks that were available to us.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, if you go to the -- to paragraph 497, you will see a table where there were some gas utilities, there were some electricity utilities, there was B.C. Gas.  Did your evidence address that sample?  Can you recall?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  We actually prepared those tables.
     MR. CASS:  Mr. Thompson, I think it says at paragraph 496: 

“Data was extracted from Mr. Louth's undertaking and further analyzed by the Board as follows ..."

MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But I was trying to relate this back to you, Mr. Louth.  This is not somebody else.
     MR. LOUTH:  If I may, I will refer to the report we presented, which I do indeed have in front of me.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  That's fine.
     MR. LOUTH:  I'm afraid you will have to bear with me here for a second.  Okay, yes, I found the reference in our report.
     We actually compared EGD at that point to benchmarks provided by the American Gas Association and a very limited benchmark provided at that point by Financial Times Energy, and I see these numbers are referred to in there, adjusted by, I believe they're referred to in there, adjusted by exchange rates.
     But certainly I would retract what I said earlier.  We did not prepare that table.  We prepared some of the data for that table.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But I guess the only point I was trying to make is, what you did in that case, it may not have been the same, but it is a similar exercise to what you have done in this case.  You have taken a sample of utilities and you have derived your benchmarks from them.
     MR. LOUTH:  No.  With all due respect, we have not taken a sample.  We have accepted the results that were prepared by the gas association and the Financial Times.  And we accepted those results.  We just basically then compared EGD's costs against those numbers.
     The detailed benchmark that we prepared as part of our 2002 work was a comparison to B.C. Gas.
     MR. THOMPSON:  So you used somebody else's sample?
     MR. LOUTH:  That's correct.
     MR. THOMPSON:  In this particular case, you're using information you yourself obtained from -- I think you said 14 utilities, which you then eliminated some --

     MR. LOUTH:  Yes, in the 2006 case, that's correct.  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  But the bottom line was, in 2003, you were putting forward a study to support the full amount of the prices being paid by EGD to CWLP as being reasonable?


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm, that's correct.  I believe that was what we said, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the Board didn't accept that --


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- in the 2003 case; would you agree?


MR. LOUTH:  I presume so.  I actually do not know what the Board accepted.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the Board found the prices were too high by about $7 million, if you go to paragraph 504.


MR. LOUTH:  This is paragraph 504?


MR. THOMPSON:  That's correct.


MR. LOUTH:  I am now reading that the Board in fact found that a disallowance of 7 million was appropriate.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is this the first time you have become aware of this?


MR. LOUTH:  That's the first -- well, it's the first time I have read this Board decision, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And the customer care amount in issue in that case was a total of about $100 million.  Would you take that subject to check?  It's recited in here somewhere.


Would you accept that, subject to check, Mr. McGill?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So the overage, if you will, in that particular case was found by the Board to be about 7 percent?


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that fair?


MR. LOUTH:  That's fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that appears to be consistent with what you found in your own benchmark study, where you say EGD exceeds the benchmark by about 7.9 percent?


MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  In 2006 terms, yes.  


MR. McGILL:  Just to clarify that $100 million, the $100 million referred to what the company was paying CWLP for 2003, not the company's entire customer care O&M costs, which would include bad debt and a couple of other minor items.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I'm sorry.  That is what I meant, the CWLP contract.


MR. McGILL:  It's just a question of what the 7 percent applies to.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right, 7 percent on the CWLP contract.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Which is what this segment of my cross‑examination is all about.


MR. McGILL:  But the $7 million reduction applied to the company's entire customer care budget for 2003.


MR. THOMPSON:  But it was derived by reference to the CWLP contract.


MR. McGILL:  It was derived by reference to these benchmarks, and it was derived by an analysis of the relative rates of returns in EGD, CWLP and the ESCI.


MR. THOMPSON:  In any event, Mr. Louth ‑‑ let me ask you this first, Mr. McGill.


We moved from 2003, where the disallowance is 7 million, into 2004, which was the expedited case to get EGD back on track; would you agree?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then an issue arose in that case with respect to earnings sharing?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you recall that?


MR. McGILL:  I'm somewhat familiar with that, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And EGD was taking the position that the $7 million disallowance from 2003 didn't carry forward into 2004 for the purposes of determining earnings sharing.  Do you recall that?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And the Board found against EGD on that point?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, it did.  So the effect was that the customers got the $7 million basically one-and-a-half times.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, right.  But also the effect was that the Board found that the over-pricing or excessiveness of the CWLP arrangement in 2003 carried forward into 2004; would you agree?


MR. McGILL:  Well, as I recall, in ‑‑ I believe it was part of the 2003 settlement agreement, the parties agreed ‑‑ because we were half way or more through the 2003 fiscal year when all of this was being heard.


2004 was impending, I believe, and subject to check of the settlement agreement in 2003, that it was agreed that there would be a deferral account set up called, I think, the O&M deferral account, O&M DA, I believe, and that whatever the Board decided in this 2003 proceeding with respect to customer care costs, the Board would have the opportunity of also determining an amount for 2004 in combination with this expedited process that was also under way for 2004.


So effectively we got two decisions at the same point in time, one for 2003, one for 2004.  And, as I recall, the amount of the reduction for 2004 was $7.1 million.  It was the 2003 figure inflated.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, what happened is actually described with clarity by the Board itself at paragraph 505 of the decision that Mr. Thompson has been referring to.  That paragraph describes how, by reason of the 2004 settlement proposal, the Board's determination in respect of the 2003 O&M DA was carried forward to 2004.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, we seem to have a big fuss about earnings sharing.


In any event, you agree that the excessiveness found by the Board in 2003 was a finding that prevailed in 2004?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Then we come to 2005 where, once again, the company was claiming the full amount paid under the contract to CWLP; am I correct?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And, Mr. Louth, did you present evidence in the 2005 case?


MR. LOUTH:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  And, Mr. McGill, in the settlement in the 2005 case, the customer care support amount was, again, reduced by an amount slightly in excess of $7 million?


MR. McGILL:  The 2005 O&M settlement was a settlement with respect to the company's entire O&M requirement for 2005.  And as part of getting that settlement, the company agreed to identify a portion of the reduction in O&M agreed to, as associated with customer care, and that was marked, I believe, on a table that was an appendix to the 2005 settlement agreement, as $7.1 or $7.2 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, thank you.  So I think that is an agreement that the ‑‑ well, you agreed that the over-pricing ‑‑


MR. McGILL:  We agreed to a total O&M settlement.


MR. THOMPSON:  No, no.  You agreed to an allocated settlement.


MR. McGILL:  Well, you can argue whatever you want to argue, but we agreed to a total O&M number.


MR. THOMPSON:  For customer support, that was seven-some-odd million below the claim; is that what you're saying?


MR. McGILL:  I have stated my recollection of what happened, and you will have to go back and check the words of the settlement agreement.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right, fine.  Let's move on.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, is this an appropriate time for us to take a break?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, it would be, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't we do that?  We will take a break until five minutes past 3 o'clock.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:50 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:15 p.m.

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  A couple of preliminary things, Mr. Thompson, before you get started.  I'm sorry we're not on the air.
     A couple of preliminary things.  Just that we must complete at 4 o'clock today, so whoever is up and I'm feeling it will still be you, Mr. Thompson, if you could keep that in mind.
     For tomorrow, when we get to the matter of the undertakings or the evidence and the question of their provision, Mr. Cass, could I make a request of you.  Could you, at that time, provide the Board with information of the nature of the concern about securities law on the providing the EGD budget for 2005?  I would just like to understand what that concern is.  So if you can --
     MR. CASS:  I will try to do so, Madam Chair.  Without some help from a securities lawyer, it would really be what I said in my submissions.
     MS. NOWINA:  That's why I said tomorrow, Mr. Cass, because I'm assuming between now and then you could do that.  Since someone is working on the question, I'm assuming that they could give you an update on what the concerns are.
     MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Thompson.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, sorry, before Mr. Thompson proceeds.  During the break the intervenors have been trying to figure out what we're going to do tomorrow because we had a plan for how to deal with customer care.
     MS. NOWINA:  Right.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's been thrown for two loops now, one being that CIS is separated suddenly, which doesn't affect me, but does affect some of my colleagues.  Secondly, and the one that affects me, because we may have new financial information tomorrow.  And my friends, I think, all do not want to proceed with the customer care component of their cross-examinations until I have, because I'm the one responsible for the numbers.
     We went to the trouble of splitting it all up and until I get all of the numbers out, it is hard for anybody else to deal with the issues they want to deal with.
     The problem is that if the new financial information is tabled tomorrow, then obviously I can't proceed, because I won't have had a chance to look at it.  And if it is not tabled tomorrow, then tonight I have to complete the cross on the assumption that I'm not going to do it, which is wasted time if it is tabled.
     Or alternatively, I go ahead tomorrow and demonstrate to the Board how much we need that by doing a four-hour cross-examination and then we have to start over again.
     Our suggestion, Madam Chair, subject, obviously, to your wishes is that we plan today to deal with the question of whether that material be produced tomorrow, but that we also plan not to proceed with the rest of the customer care cross-examination until next Thursday, that is, after it is decided whether it is yes or no, then we proceed next Thursday with that issue.  That's -- obviously my friends may have comments on that as well.
     MS. NOWINA:  Does anyone else have comments on that?
     MR. CASS:  Sorry, Madam Chair, I was just waiting to see if any other intervenors wanted to say something.  I wanted to make one quick comment in relation to the prospect referred to by Mr. Shepherd that there might be further information tomorrow.
     I don't have it in front of me.  I could pull it out, if necessary.  Mr. Hoey was showing me at the break that, in response to interrogatory number 192 from CCC, the company set out what CWLP's position was in respect of the information that's now being talked about.  So it is already there, and the expectation that there might be something tomorrow would imply that there's a thought that CWLP is going to change the position stated there.
     I don't have any reason to know one way or the other, but I don't know why we would be assuming that CWLP is going to change that position.
     MS. NOWINA:  Would it be fair to expect, Mr. Cass, that we will have no new information tomorrow regarding the couple of items that Mr. Thompson raised?
     MR. CASS:  I --
     MS. NOWINA:  Until after we have heard the submissions on his issues?
     MR. CASS:  Sorry, Madam Chair, I wasn't quite sure I totally heard your question.  Would it be fair to expect --
     MS. NOWINA:  -- no new information tomorrow submitted by EGD?
     MR. CASS:  I simply don't know.  But I have no reason to believe there would be new information by tomorrow.
     MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment, please.
     [The Board confers]
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, I am somewhat relieved when you raised your concerns that you also gave us a solution and I think that that is appropriate and likely would be the most likely thing that would happen anyway, that we finish the examination with Mr. Louth and then go on to hear the submissions on the rest of the evidence.  And there wouldn't be any further time, in any case, to go ahead with the rest of the CIS cross-examination.
     So I think we can assume that that would begin a week from today.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Is it back to me now, Madam Chair?
     MS. NOWINA:  It is, Mr. Thompson.

ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 16; RESUMED:  


DOUG LOUTH; Previously Sworn


TANYIA FERGUSON; Previously Sworn

     STEPHEN McGILL; Previously Sworn
     CONTINUED CROSS-EXAMINATION BY THOMPSON:
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  I just want to back up for one minute, Mr. Louth, before I continue with benchmarking.
     This is for you as well, Mr. McGill.  But as a general proposition, would you agree with me, both of you, that customer care for utility customers is an integral part of providing utility service?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And Mr. Louth --
     MR. LOUTH:  I agree.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Would you also agree with me that in that sense, it's distinguishable from the provision of ancillary businesses, such as equipment, rental, service thereof, that kind of thing, as well as non-utility businesses such as mortgage financing and that kind of thing?
     Those things are severable from the utility business, whereas the provision of customer care to utility customers is an inseparable part of the utility business.
     MR. McGILL:  Well, I think you're talking about two completely different things.  I think customer care, as a business process, is part of doing business.
     We need to collect money from our customers for the services we provide, so we need to issue invoices.  We need to be able to respond to them when they call us on the phone.
     It's -- it can be acquired as a service, but in terms of what the utility does, it's part of doing business.
     The things that you -- that Mr. Thompson has identified as ancillary services are more retail or commercial services that Enbridge Gas Distribution in the past has offered to the public, but no longer does.
     So there is a real difference and it's difficult to look at them in the same light.  I guess that is my point.
     MR. THOMPSON:  I agree with you.  One is an integral part of the utility business.  The others are not.
     MR. McGILL:  Well, it's part of doing business.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Customer care for utility customers is an integral part of the utility business.
     MR. McGILL:  Of any business.
     MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.  Let's move on.
     With respect to the benchmarking item, Mr. Louth -- and again using the Board's 2003 decision as an example -- would you agree with me that benchmarking is not the only factor to be considered when assessing the reasonableness of claims made by a utility?
     MR. LOUTH:  I would agree, yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And would you agree with me that the weight that is to be accorded to benchmarking evidence is for the Board to determine in each particular case?
     MR. LOUTH:  I would agree with that as well.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, in the 2003 decision, there were a couple of other factors that the Board looked at in terms of assessing reasonableness.
     And one of them was the comparison to B.C. Gas.  I think you mentioned that before the break.  You will find that in the table that is referenced, as well as in the paragraph 499.  The Board there noted the company's customer care costs are 5.06 per customer higher than those of B.C. Gas.  Do you see that?


MR. LOUTH:  I found that, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And was that based on an analysis you did at the time?


MR. LOUTH:  That was ‑‑ well, the number is the same as the analysis we did, yes.  We compared the two contracts.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in this particular case, there is, in the evidence, a comparison.  I think it's in ‑‑ Mr. McGill can help me which particular page it's on.  I have it noted somewhere.


There is a comparison to B.C. Gas.  It's table 3 of something.


MS. FERGUSON:  Exhibit A6, tab 2, schedule 3, page 7.


MR. THOMPSON:  Page 7, okay.  Thank you.


Could you turn that up, please, Mr. Louth?


MR. LOUTH:  I am sitting right next to it.  I can see it.


MR. THOMPSON:  You can see it.  And there, without any adjustments, the Enbridge cost is shown as 58.81 and the Terasen cost is shown as 54.54 ‑‑ $58.81, $54.54.  Do you see that?


MR. LOUTH:  That's what it shows, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Did you have anything to do with this table, in this case?


MR. LOUTH:  No, I did not generate this table.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so that was a table generated by EGD; is that right, Ms. Ferguson?


MS. FERGUSON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  I can reserve my questions on that for later.


On an unadjusted basis, though, just before I leave it, it appears the difference between the B.C. Gas calculation, the $54.54, and the Enbridge cost of $58.81 is still in excess of $4.00; $4.27.  Is that math correct?


MR. McGILL:  Subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So it is down a little, but not a whole lot.


MR. McGILL:  The more relevant comparison is the adjusted EGD to Terasen, because in the adjustment, we remove some aspects of what we pay for that are not included in the arrangement that Terasen Gas has with CWLP.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we will deal with ‑‑ I will deal with that later.  Mr. Louth, I just want to confirm he had nothing to do with that number in this particular case.


Now, the other factor that the Board considered, Mr. Louth, in this ‑‑ in assessing reasonableness in the 2003 case you will find on ‑‑ beginning at paragraph 502 and following.


That's what I call a utility return analysis.


MR. LOUTH:  Mm‑hmm.


MR. THOMPSON:  Are you reading this for the first time?


MR. LOUTH:  I am reading this, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you were unaware that the Board relied on a utility return analysis?


MR. LOUTH:  No, I was not.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So you weren't asked to do one, obviously, for this particular case?


MR. LOUTH:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. McGill, the utility return analysis that the Board did in the 2003 case was based on this confidential Exhibit X9.1.


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Correct?  And I will get into this when we go in camera in more detail of the numbers, but can you tell me why the company didn't do a utility return analysis in this particular case, given that it was a factor that the Board considered in the previous case?


MR. McGILL:  Well, I think it comes down to context.  The Affiliate Relationships Code speaks to two different ways of validating affiliate transfer pricing.  One is a market price test, and the Board definitely has a preference for those prices to be determined through some kind of bidding or tendering process, and the other test is a cost-based test.  


And as part of the 2003 decision, the Board set down its interpretation of the affiliate code, as it was at the time, that that cost-based test would be the test ‑‑ would be the test of the costs of the service provider.  So two different tests, two different contexts.  


So if we're talking about comparing fair market value, then the cost of service test isn't applicable.  That's why we haven't included that in our evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am not ‑‑ I didn't quite follow that completely.  But just in terms of how to do it, what you will need to have in front of you is the exhibit.  I'm not going to refer to the numbers, but refer to concepts.  This is Exhibit X9.1.


MR. McGILL:  I've got it.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just taking 2006 to illustrate the concept, there is a line in the exhibit that is called "CWLP Costs", and then there is a line called "Service Fee Credit".


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you see those?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do I understand correctly that what CWLP pays ABSU is the net of those two items?


MR. McGILL:  No.  ABSU is paid what's identified in line 5.  At that time it was CustomerWorks Inc. charges, so the 125.2, and then there are a number of other monies that CWLP retains and those things are identified as

pre-existing commitments, and there's also amounts related to depreciation and whatnot.


So what ABSU ends up, based on this whole forecast, would have been $125.2 million.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me try it this way, then.  In terms of determining the utility return indicator of the type that the Board developed in the last case, we see in line 15 CWLP total assets number; correct?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that number presumably will be lower in 2006 because of depreciation.


MR. McGILL:  No, it won't be lower in 2006, but the calculation would be -- would be to divide the after-tax earnings ‑‑ one way of doing it would be to divide the after-tax earnings by the value of the total assets.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And that would give you the ‑‑


MR. McGILL:  So that was what was done for 2003 in the first column of this, and it drove out a number of 14.3 percent at that point in time.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that approach ‑‑ I'm just trying to get the concept.


MR. McGILL:  Right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Dividing the number, after-tax earnings, by the CWLP assets will produce a percentage return of something in 2006?


MR. McGILL:  Yes, that's right.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And is the approach you then compare that percentage return to the overall utility return, which for 2006 is in the order of 8 percent?  Is that the approach?


MR. McGILL:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And then in terms of developing the, if you will, difference, which I have described as the excess, you take the difference in those two percentage amounts.  The one amount is 14.3 percent and the other amount is 20 percent.  The difference is 7.3 percent.


MR. McGILL:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry.


MR. McGILL:  7.7.


MR. THOMPSON:  7.7, okay.


You then multiply that times the asset amount, and then gross it up for taxes.  Is that ‑‑


MR. McGILL:  That would be one way of doing it.


MR. THOMPSON:  That would be one way of doing it. Can we do this with this exhibit, as well as with the segmented CWLP exhibit that's filed confidentially as part of 192, CCC 192 to get an estimate of the results of the utility return calculation in 2006?  Is that one way of doing it?
     MR. McGILL:  It would be much more appropriate to use the figures that are included in the response to CCC 192, given that is -- those are based on CWLP's current budget for 2006 whereas the 2006 figures set out in this Exhibit the X9.1, date back to sometime in 2002.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Has EGD done the calculation?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  And what is the number compared to the 7 million in 2003?
     MR. McGILL:  I don't have it with me at the moment, but we can undertake to provide it.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Is it more than 7 million?
     MR. McGILL:  I believe it is less.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Did you do it off the -– well, maybe what you could do is, when you give us the number, give us the manner in which you derived it by way of a confidential undertaking response.
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.  We can do that.  This undertaking would have to be treated in confidence as well.
     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.
     MR. BATTISTA:  So that will be undertaking X19.1.
     UNDERTAKING NO. J(X)19.1:  TO PROVIDE AN ESTIMATE OF

THE RESULTS OF THE UTILITY RETURN CALCULATION IN 2006

AND THE MANNER BY WHICH IT WAS DERIVED
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  

Now, in terms of -- Mr. Louth, in terms of the problems, possible problems with benchmarking.  In the Board's decision in 2003, I'm reading from paragraph 495, it indicated that one of the problems of benchmarking - this is my paraphrase - is that it provides a range of costs, provides a wide range of results.  I'm reading that into the second line there.
     Is that one of the problems?
     MR. LOUTH:  It is potentially one of the problems, yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  There are others that, such as those that Mr. Stevens mentioned, the absence of normalization and this kind of thing; would you agree?
     MR. LOUTH:  Yes.  Again, I will repeat the benchmarking isn't an exact science.  It's statistically based, but it isn't statistically elegant.  I'm having trouble saying the word “statistically,” I apologize.
     So it is -- you cannot look at a benchmark as being mathematically or statistically 100 percent accurate.  So every benchmark done by any company is always subject to potential anomalies.
     MR. THOMPSON:  In the last case, the benchmark that was being used was sensitive to exchange rate assumptions.  Does that apply in this particular case?
     MR. LOUTH:  No.  That was one reason that we deliberately chose Canadian utilities.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, in terms of the level of return that should be allowed to, what I call an arm's length operating services provider, we asked you some questions, I think it's interrogatories 60 and 61, whether you had studied that issue.
     I think the answer was, no, you hadn't.
     MR. LOUTH:  No, we had not studied that issue.
     MR. THOMPSON:  So you can't help us with that issue.
     Do you have any views on the utility return guide that the Board used in the last case as to its appropriateness in this particular case where it will, we believe, deal with the costs actually being paid by CWLP to Accenture?
     MR. LOUTH:  What paragraph was this?     

MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the concept is what's in paragraph 502.  Its application is to a document that's in evidence here, X.9.1.  But it operates off, if we use the CWLP pro forma I think it is called for 2006, it operates off, as I understand it, amounts actually being paid by CWLP to Accenture.
     In other words, it has a link with reality.  Do you regard that kind of indicator as more appropriate, in this particular case, than a benchmarking approach?
     MR. LOUTH:  It's another approach.  I mean, obviously the margin being earned by a first or second provider is of relevance.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, in terms of an appropriate characterization for CWLP/ECSI, one of them with two people and the other with none, I suggest they're sort of like a utility services broker.  Is that a fair description?
     MR. LOUTH:  No, I used the word project manager earlier.  I think that is a fair IR description than "broker".
     MR. McGILL:  We used to call it gas marketers at one time demand aggregators, and I think that would be a more proper way to view CWLP.  By bringing together several utility clients or non-utility clients, for that matter, they were able to develop economies of scale and scope that otherwise wouldn't have been available to any of those clients independently.
     And as far as their relationship with Accenture goes, that's a secondary matter.  If CWLP hadn't existed, Accenture wouldn't be in this business today.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, if EGD hadn't existed CWLP wouldn't have existed and Accenture, ABSU wouldn't have existed.  But I take your point.  Demand aggregators or as they have been called in this jurisdiction:  Agents, brokers or marketers, ABMs; right?
     MR. McGILL:  Yes.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So I suggest the terms “agent” or “broker” fit.  That's what CWLP really is.  It goes out and gets customer-care services for EGD and others.
     MR. McGILL:  But the difference is, is that it is actually contracted to provide those services to those clients.
     It is on the hook to deliver them to us and the other clients it has.  It has chosen to hire someone to provide those services on its behalf.  But the contract that EGD has with it requires CWLP to deliver those services to it.  Not ABSU or anyone else for that matter.
     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I suggest to you, Mr. McGill, when you ask yourself what's the appropriate level of return for an agent or broker that simply goes out and acquires utility services for utilities, the answer I come up with:  No more than the utility return.
     What's the answer you come up with?
     MR. McGILL:  I think that is a point for argument.
     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  

Mr. DeVellis, would you like 15 minutes of your 45 minutes now?
     MR. CASS:  Sorry, Madam Chair, maybe this would be a convenient time -- I'm sorry to interrupt Mr. DeVellis.
     Prior to the afternoon break, I think it was, there was discussion about the Alberta decisions that Mr. Thompson said he was -- would refer to with this panel.  He sent us a letter about that yesterday.  I'm sorry, we didn't come equipped with the decisions because we had thought Mr. Thompson would.  But they were copied over the break and they are now available.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.
     MR. CASS:  That’s actually one complete decisions and excerpts from two others as directed by, in the letter that we from two others as directed by -- in the letter that we received from Mr. Thompson yesterday.
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass, why don't we get those now.
     MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that exhibit number K19.1.
     EXHIBIT NO. K19.1:  ALBERTA DECISIONS
     MR. CASS:  Thank you.
     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis.
     MR. BATTISTA:  Excuse me.
     MR. DeVELLIS:  Madam Chair, if it's not terribly inconvenient, I wonder if I could begin my cross in the morning?
     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  I understand that, Mr. DeVellis.  It is only a few minutes.  

Mr. Battista, do you have another comment?

MR. BATTISTA:  I think the parties prefer the batch -- the three pieces in the batch to each have their own exhibit number.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.


MR. BATTISTA:  So the first one is the September 13th decision, Alberta decision.  J19.2 would be the --


MS. NOWINA:  It would be K, wouldn't it?


MR. BATTISTA:  Sorry, K19.2, would be the --


MR. CASS:  The decision numbers and dates are down in the lower right part of each extract, I think.


MR. BATTISTA:  K19.2 would be the EUB decision 2003‑106, excerpts therefrom.

EXHIBIT NO. K19.2:  EXCERPTS FROM EUB-2003-105 DECISION

MR. BATTISTA:  K19.3 would be EUB decision 2004‑065, excerpts therefrom.


EXHIBIT NO. K19.3:  EXCERPTS FROM EUB-2004-105

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Are there any other matters before we adjourn?


So just to confirm tomorrow - and Mr. Cass, you tell your panel - we will not go on to the second panel.  We will complete this panel.  We will deal with the matter of the undertakings and evidence in question, and that will complete the day tomorrow.


MR. WARREN:  Madam Chair, I just wonder if I could ask Mr. Cass, perhaps through you, will counsel for CWLP be here tomorrow, or is that an issue that will keep getting bounced off?  We have referred on a number of occasions about the need to have her or him here, and I wonder if we can ensure that counsel will be here so that we can dispose of this issue in terms of getting their submissions.


MS. NOWINA:  Good question, Mr. Warren.


Mr. Cass, can you answer that question?


MR. CASS:  I can't, Madam Chair.  When I came here today, as I already indicated to the Board, I was aware that CWLP had been alerted to the issue and that they would be contacting their lawyer.


I haven't had a minute since then to update the status of where CWLP's communications with its lawyers stands and whether the lawyer is available to tomorrow.  I simply don't know at this point.


MS. NOWINA:  I guess that's the best we can do, Mr. Warren.


MR. WARREN:  I wonder if I can just ask Mr. Cass, if he determines between now and midnight whether or not counsel is going to be present, if he can just e‑mail that information out to us so that we are aware of whether or not they will be here tomorrow?


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Cass, are you willing to do that?


MR. CASS:  Either me or someone at the company will look after that.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Cass.


MR. THOMPSON:  Madam Chair, I can't be here tomorrow, so I'm just going to have to delegate someone else of the intervenor group to make the submissions that I would make on behalf of IGUA.  Mr. DeRose can't be here either, unfortunately.  So I hope there they're as good as we would be.


MS. NOWINA:  There's a lot of talent in the room, Mr. Thompson.


MR. WARREN:  Well, on that note ...

     MS. NOWINA:  On that note, we will adjourn until 9 o'clock tomorrow morning.  

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:50 p.m.
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